
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

The Local Authorities and Police and Crime Panels (Coronavirus) 
(Flexibility of Local Authority and Police and Crime Panel Meetings) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2020) came into force on Saturday 4 
April 2020 to enable councils to hold remote committee meetings during 
the Covid 19 pandemic period. This is to ensure local authorities can 
conduct business during this current public health emergency. 

This meeting of Council will be held remotely under these regulations, 
via the Zoom application and will be webcast to ensure accessibility by 
the public and press. 

Please ask for: 
Alison Marston 

7 September 2020 
 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE to be held on Wednesday 16 September 2020 at 7.30 pm 
using Zoom. 
 

Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   APOLOGIES  
 

2.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting on 1 June 2020 
(circulated separately). 
 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda. 
 

4.   NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 8  
 

5.   LOCAL GOVERNMENT & SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN - ANNUAL REVIEW 
LETTER (Pages 3 - 24) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance), 
which details the number of complaints and enquiries received about the Council 
and the decisions that the Local Government Ombudsman made during the period. 
 

Public Document Pack



6.   SURVEILLANCE UPDATE 2020 (Pages 25 - 28) 
 

 Report of Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance), which 
provides Members with an update on the Council’s policy and use of surveillance 
powers. 
 

7.   WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21  
 

 Verbal update on the work programme for the committee for 2020/21.  
 

8.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

9.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Committee is asked to resolve: 
 

That under Section 100(A) (2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 12 (if any) on the 
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information 
as defined in Section 100A (3) and Part I of Schedule 12A of the said Act as 
amended. 
 

In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information. 
 

PART II 
 

10.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIR  
 

 
Circulation: Councillors T.Kingsbury (Chairman) 

L.Brandon 
A.Chesterman 
 

G.Michaelides 
P.Zukowskyj 
B.Morris 
 

 Co-opted Member - Representative of the 
Welwyn Hatfield Association of Local Councils 
Parish Councillor B.Morris 

 
 Corporate Management Team 

Press and Public (except Part II Items) 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Alison 
Marston, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Alison Marston 
Executive Member: Cllr Tony Kingsbury 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE – 16 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT & SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN – ANNUAL REVIEW 
LETTER 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO) prepares an annual 
summary of statistics on the complaints made to the LGO about Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council. 

1.2 The report is for the financial year ended 31st March 2020. 

1.3 There is a statutory duty for the Council to report to Members on adverse 
outcomes of complaints formally investigated by the LGO.  

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 Members are asked to note the number of complaints and enquiries received, the 
decisions made and the outcome of the detailed investigations. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The LGO prepares an annual report which details the number of complaints and 
enquiries received about the Council and the decisions that the LGO made 
during the period. (Appendix A) 

3.2 The report shows a breakdown of the upheld complaints and shows how these 
were remedied. (Appendices B & C). This includes cases where 
recommendations from the LGO remedied the fault and those where the Council 
had offered satisfactory remedy during the local complaints process. 

3.3 The data included in the report is published on the website of the LGO. 

3.4 There were 25 complaints and enquiries received by the LGO during the year. 19 
final decisions were made and these included some decisions from the previous 
year. 

3.5 Of the 5 complaints that were subject to a detailed investigation, 3 were upheld. 
Full details of these decisions are attached at Appendix D. 

3.6 Following the first of these cases; 17018755, a meeting with the resident in 
August of last year confirmed that the service had improved. Since the end of 
March 2020, we have been working with our new waste collection contractor, 
Urbaser, to develop real-time reporting through Whitespace. This also ensures 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



- 2 - 

that crews are aware of any difficult or unusual to access properties, such as this 
one. We are also working closely with them to reduce repeat service issues.   

3.7 The second case, 18018756, came about due to correspondence being sent to a 
rental property address rather than a forwarding address due to the case being 
handled by a temporary member of staff unfamiliar with processes. Following this 
incident, a note has been sent to all staff reminding them of the correct process 
to follow and time is spent with temporary staff to ensure they are fully aware. 

3.8 In respect of the third case, 19016225, the Council accepted fault before the 
Ombudsman’s involvement. They did not investigate the complaint as it was felt 
unlikely that further information would result in a different outcome. Each 
household applying for housing via the council’s housing needs register is 
considered in line with the published Housing Allocation Policy.  The banding is 
assessed based on the information on the application form and any additional 
evidence/letters of support provided.  Each person’s circumstance is different, 
and we work hard to ensure that we assess each application in a fair and 
transparent way.  Sometimes we are asked to reconsider an application in light of 
new, more detailed or additional information, which can then lead to a change in 
the assessment and therefore a change of banding priority.  This was the 
situation in this case. 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 There is a statutory requirement for Members to be informed of adverse 
outcomes of complaints formally investigated by the LGO. 

4.2 Full Council has delegated to the Standards Committee the responsibility for 
maintaining oversight of the Council’s arrangements for dealing with complaints.  

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 Where complaints are made against the Council and upheld by the LGO, the 
Council could be liable to reimburse the complainant for fees paid or to make 
restitution for any loss incurred by the complainant. 

6 Risk Management Implication(s) 

6.1 The reputation of the Council could be put at risk should it not implement 
remedies recommended by the LGO. 

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are none. 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 There are none. 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 There are none. 

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 There are none. 

Page 4



- 3 - 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 There are none. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 There are none. 

13 Links to Corporate Priorities 

11.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority to engage 
with our communities and provide value for money, and specifically to the 
achievement of ensuring fair and open access for our diverse community and 
effectively communication what we do and is linked to the statutory duty under 
Section 5(2) of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

12 Equality and Diversity 

12.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related 
policies. 

 

Name of author Alison Marston 
Title Governance Services Manager 
Date 13 August 2020 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



22 July 2020 

By email 

Mr Bridge 
Chief Executive 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

Dear Mr Bridge  

Annual Review letter 2020 

I write to you with our annual summary of statistics on the decisions made by the Local 

Government and Social Care Ombudsman about your authority for the year ending     

31 March 2020. Given the exceptional pressures under which local authorities have been 

working over recent months, I thought carefully about whether it was still appropriate to send 

you this annual update. However, now, more than ever, I believe that it is essential that the 

public experience of local services is at the heart of our thinking. So, I hope that this 

feedback, which provides unique insight into the lived experience of your Council’s services, 

will be useful as you continue to deal with the current situation and plan for the future. 

Complaint statistics 

This year, we continue to place our focus on the outcomes of complaints and what can be 

learned from them. We want to provide you with the most insightful information we can and 

have made several changes over recent years to improve the data we capture and report. 

We focus our statistics on these three key areas: 

Complaints upheld - We uphold complaints when we find some form of fault in an 

authority’s actions, including where the authority accepted fault before we investigated. A 

focus on how often things go wrong, rather than simple volumes of complaints provides a 

clearer indicator of performance. 

Compliance with recommendations - We recommend ways for authorities to put things 

right when faults have caused injustice. Our recommendations try to put people back in the 

position they were before the fault and we monitor authorities to ensure they comply with our 

recommendations. Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a 

compliance rate below 100% should scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply 

and identify any learning. 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority - We want to encourage the early 

resolution of complaints and to credit authorities that have a positive and open approach to 

AGENDA ITEM 5 - APPENDIX A

Page 7



resolving complaints. We recognise cases where an authority has taken steps to put things 

right before the complaint came to us. The authority upheld the complaint and we agreed 

with how it offered to put things right.  

Finally, we compare the three key annual statistics for your authority with similar types of 

authorities to work out an average level of performance. We do this for County Councils, 

District Councils, Metropolitan Boroughs, Unitary Councils, and London Boroughs. 

This data will be uploaded to our interactive map, Your council’s performance, along with a 

copy of this letter on 29 July 2020, and our Review of Local Government Complaints. For 

further information on how to interpret our statistics, please visit our website. 

Resources to help you get it right 

There are a range of resources available that can support you to place the learning from 

complaints, about your authority and others, at the heart of your system of corporate 

governance. Your council’s performance launched last year and puts our data and 

information about councils in one place. Again, the emphasis is on learning, not numbers. 

You can find the decisions we have made, public reports we have issued, and the service 

improvements your Council has agreed to make as a result of our investigations, as well as 

previous annual review letters.  

I would encourage you to share the tool with colleagues and elected members; the 

information can provide valuable insights into service areas, early warning signs of problems 

and is a key source of information for governance, audit, risk and scrutiny functions. 

Earlier this year, we held our link officer seminars in London, Bristol, Leeds and Birmingham. 

Attended by 178 delegates from 143 local authorities, we focused on maximising the impact 

of complaints, making sure the right person is involved with complaints at the right time, and 

how to overcome common challenges.  

We have a well-established and successful training programme supporting local authorities 

and independent care providers to help improve local complaint handling. During the year, 

we delivered 118 courses, training more than 1,400 people. This is 47 more courses than we 

delivered last year and included more training to adult social care providers than ever before. 

To find out more visit www.lgo.org.uk/training. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
Michael King 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 

Chair, Commission for Local Administration in England

Page 8

https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/reports/annual-review-reports/interpreting-local-authority-statistics
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance
http://www.lgo.org.uk/training


Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

For the period ending: 31/03/20                                                               

 

 

 

Complaints upheld 

  

60% of complaints we 
investigated were upheld. 

This compares to an average of 
45% in similar authorities. 

 
 

3                          
upheld decisions 

 
Statistics are based on a total of 5 

detailed investigations for the 
period between 1 April 2019 to 31 

March 2020 

Compliance with Ombudsman recommendations 

  

In 100% of cases we were 
satisfied the authority had 
successfully implemented our 
recommendations. 

This compares to an average of 
99% in similar authorities. 

 

 

Statistics are based on a total of 2 
compliance outcomes for the period 
between 1 April 2019 to 31 March 

2020 

• Failure to comply with our recommendations is rare. An authority with a compliance rate below 100% should 
scrutinise those complaints where it failed to comply and identify any learning. 
 

Satisfactory remedies provided by the authority 

  

In 33% of upheld cases we 
found the authority had provided 
a satisfactory remedy before the 
complaint reached the 
Ombudsman.  

This compares to an average of 
20% in similar authorities. 

 

1                      
satisfactory remedy decision  

 

Statistics are based on a total of 5 
detailed investigations for the 

period between 1 April 2019 to 31 
March 2020 

 
 

60% 

100% 

33% 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference Category Received 

18018155 Planning & Development 28 May 2019 

19000416 Benefits & Tax 08 Apr 2019 

19000611 Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 11 Apr 2019 

19001393 Benefits & Tax 26 Apr 2019 

19002547 Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 20 May 2019 

19004602 Benefits & Tax 20 Jun 2019 

19005973 Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 10 Jul 2019 

19006268 Planning & Development 16 Jul 2019 

19008803 Benefits & Tax 27 Aug 2019 

19008924 Housing 06 Nov 2019 

19010065 Housing 16 Sep 2019 

19010569 Housing 24 Sep 2019 

19013167 Planning & Development 05 Nov 2019 

19013168 Highways & Transport 05 Nov 2019 

19013532 Corporate & Other Services 12 Dec 2019 

19013794 Other 13 Nov 2019 

19015074 Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 06 Dec 2019 

19016020 Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 19 Dec 2019 

19016225 Housing 24 Dec 2019 

19016263 Other 24 Dec 2019 

19016660 Planning & Development 08 Jan 2020 

19019320 Corporate & Other Services 04 Mar 2020 

19020643 Planning & Development 09 Mar 2020 

19020683 Environmental Services & Public Protection & Regulation 09 Mar 2020 

19020737 Corporate & Other Services 10 Mar 2020 

AGENDA ITEM 5 - APPENDIX B

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Reference Category Decided Decision Decision Reason Remedy 

17018755 Environmental Services & 
Public Protection & Regulation 31/05/19 Upheld mal & inj 

Financial redress: Avoidable 
distress/time and trouble, Provide 
services 

18000410 Planning & Development 14/06/19 Not Upheld no mal 

18018155 Planning & Development 15/07/19 Closed after initial enquiries Not warranted by alleged mal/service 
failure 

18018756 Benefits & Tax 11/07/19 Upheld mal & inj Financial redress: Avoidable 
distress/time and trouble 

18019369 Environmental Services & 
Public Protection & Regulation 30/04/19 Closed after initial enquiries Not warranted by alleged mal/service 

failure 

18019931 Benefits & Tax 07/05/19 Closed after initial enquiries 26(6)(a) tribunal HB 

19000416 Benefits & Tax 09/09/19 Not Upheld no mal 

19000611 Environmental Services & 
Public Protection & Regulation 03/06/19 Closed after initial enquiries Not warranted by alleged mal/service 

failure 

19001393 Benefits & Tax 18/06/19 Closed after initial enquiries Not warranted by alleged mal/service 
failure 

19002547 Environmental Services & 
Public Protection & Regulation 12/08/19 Closed after initial enquiries Not warranted by alleged mal/service 

failure 

19004602 Benefits & Tax 19/08/19 Closed after initial enquiries Not warranted by alleged mal/service 
failure 

19005973 Environmental Services & 
Public Protection & Regulation 10/07/19 Referred back for local 

resolution Premature Decision - advice given 

19006268 Planning & Development 05/09/19 Closed after initial enquiries 26(6)(c) Court remedy 

19008803 Benefits & Tax 08/11/19 Closed after initial enquiries Not warranted by alleged mal/service 
failure 

19008924 Housing 14/01/20 Closed after initial enquiries Not warranted by alleged mal/service 
failure 

19010569 Housing 22/11/19 Closed after initial enquiries Sch 5.5A/5.5B Social housing 
landlord 

AGENDA ITEM 5 - APPENDIX C

P
age 13



Reference Category Decided Decision Decision Reason Remedy 

19013168 Highways & Transport 05/11/19 Referred back for local 
resolution Premature Decision - advice given   

19013532 Corporate & Other Services 20/02/20 Closed after initial enquiries Not warranted by alleged injustice   

19013794 Other 13/11/19 Advice given Signpost - go to complaint handling   

19015074 Environmental Services & 
Public Protection & Regulation 06/12/19 Referred back for local 

resolution Premature Decision - advice given   

19016020 Environmental Services & 
Public Protection & Regulation 19/02/20 Closed after initial enquiries Not warranted by alleged mal/service 

failure   

19016225 Housing 06/02/20 Upheld Injustice remedied during BinJ 
complaint processes   

19016263 Other 24/12/19 Advice given Signpost - go to complaint handling   

19016660 Planning & Development 31/03/20 Closed after initial enquiries 26B(2) not made in 12 months   

19020643 Planning & Development 09/03/20 Referred back for local 
resolution Premature Decision - advice given   

19020737 Corporate & Other Services 10/03/20 Referred back for local 
resolution Premature Decision - advice given   

 

P
age 14



1

31 May 2019

Complaint reference: 
17 018 755

Complaint against:
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision
Summary: The Council has acknowledged that it failed to identify the 
correct bin store when Ms B complained that her waste was not being 
collected. This meant that Ms B had to complain multiple time and 
waste accumulated. The Council has apologised to Ms B and put in 
place measures to make sure the waste is collected properly. The 
Council has agreed to pay Ms B £150 in recognition of the 
inconvenience and time and trouble it put her to, and meet with her to 
make sure that the problems are resolved. 

The complaint
1. Ms B complains the Council has not taken effective action to make sure her

refuse is collected regularly. The bins are in a communal bin store and the
Council has not emptied these on more than ten occasions in the last year. This
has meant that not only has waste built up, but that Ms B has had to contact the
Council several times.

The Ombudsman’s role and powers
2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this

statement, I have used the word fault to refer to these. We must also consider
whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the
complaint. I refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused an
injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1),
as amended)

3. If we are satisfied with a council’s actions or proposed actions, we can complete
our investigation and issue a decision statement. (Local Government Act 1974, section
30(1B) and 34H(i), as amended)

How I considered this complaint
4. I have considered the information provided by the complainant. I have also

considered the Council’s response to my enquiries including the correspondence
between the parties and the Council’s file records. Both parties have had the
opportunity to comment on a draft of this statement. I have taken into account the
comments from both parties before issuing my final decision.

AGENDA ITEM 5 - APPENDIX D

Page 15



    

Final decision 2

What I found
5. Ms B lives in a residential development. The refuse bins for her and neighbouring 

properties are kept in a single communal store. She found the refuse was not 
being collected. Ms B started to report this in December 2017. She did not have a 
refuse collection between 8 and 25 December. Ms B reported this to the Council 
on 28 December. The Council told its contractor to clear all the rubbish that had 
accumulated in the store. However, it took the contractor until 19 January to do 
this properly. 

6. Ms B continued to experience problems. Each time, she reported this to the 
Council and it arranged for the bins to be collected at a later date.

7. The Council’s contractor said its staff had too many collections on the same day, 
it rearranged the rounds and changed the collection day for Ms B. However, the 
problems continued with missed collections. 

8. Ms B complained again and the Council said its contractor would closely monitor 
collections. It found there were no missed collections in the next four weeks. 

9. However, further collections were missed and Ms B had to complain again, and 
when she reported this it was not always resolved as promised. The Council 
again said that changes to the collection team had been made but the problems 
persisted. In all, the Council’s records show that Ms B reported that her waste had 
not been collected 14 times in just over a year.

10. Ms B complained to the Ombudsman. The Council investigated the problem 
again. It found that there had been confusion about the bin store Ms B was using 
and which the collection team failed to empty. The Council has explained that 
Ms B lives on a fairly new development and the collection teams were not familiar 
with these. Ms B and her neighbours use a bin store that is behind a locked gate 
requiring an access code. There is another bin store in front of the locked gate. 
When the Council corresponded with Ms B and when it asked the collection team 
to clear the accumulation of waste, the Council was mistakenly talking about the 
bin store in front of the locked gate. Ms B was referring to the bin store behind the 
gate. 

11. The Council has now visited the site twice to accurately establish the location of 
the bin store and gate access code. The Council has made sure that its waste 
management contractor and its contact centre (via which Ms B had complained), 
is aware of the misunderstanding and that future problems are logged to the 
correct bin store. 

12. The Council says that there has been no missed collection since and it will 
continue to monitor the situation. It has passed its apologies to Ms B and thanked 
her for her time and effort in reporting the issues to her. The Council’s contractor 
will also:
• Instruct its management team to check the collection weekly;
• Ask collection teams at the end of each shift to confirm it had collected 

successfully from the correct bin store;
• Ask the driver to document the time of collection; and 
• Add a map showing the correct bin store to the team’s paperwork. 

13. Ms B says that despite the Council’s assurances collections are still missed and 
the problems are not resolved. The Council’s records show that collections have 
been missed three times this year. 

Page 16



    

Final decision 3

Was there fault by the Council causing an injustice to Ms B?
14. The Council has acknowledged that it was at fault because it did not establish 

which bin store had not been emptied. I recognise that the mistake was genuine 
and I can see how this unusual situation meant that the correct bin store was not 
identified for some time. However, this has caused a problem for Ms B, not only 
due to the uncollected waste, but also as she had to report it to the Council 
several times, when it could have been resolved after the first contact. This is 
likely to have caused Ms B inconvenience and put her to time and trouble.

Agreed action
15. The Council has offered to pay Ms B £50 in recognition of the time and trouble it 

put her to. It has agreed to increase this to £150 in keeping with the 
Ombudsman’s guidance on settling complaints. The Council will pay this within 
one month of this decision. 

16. The Council has identified what has gone wrong and put in place good measures 
to make sure that the waste is collected properly. It has also passed its thanks 
and apologies to Ms B. However, as collections have still been missed, the 
Council has agreed that within two months of this decision it will meet with Ms B 
to make sure that the problems are resolved. 

Final decision
17. I have completed my investigation. There was fault by the Council causing an 

injustice to Ms B.

Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



1

11 July 2019

Complaint reference: 
18 018 756

Complaint against:
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision
Summary: The Council is at fault as it did not send Council Tax bills to 
Mr and Mrs X’s forwarding address. As a result, Mr and Mrs X were 
wrongly charged court costs and contacted by enforcement agents. 
The Council has agreed to remedy Mr and Mrs X’s distress and 
avoidable time and trouble by making a payment of £200 to them. 

The complaint
1. Mrs X complains that the Council wrongly added recovery costs for Council Tax 

arrears it had not previously notified her about.  The Council also failed to deal 
with her complaint. As a result, Mr and Mrs X were contacted by an enforcement 
agent and they were caused anxiety and avoidable time and trouble. 

The Ombudsman’s role and powers
2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this 

statement, I have used the word fault to refer to these. We must also consider 
whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the 
complaint. I refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused an 
injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 26A(1), 
as amended)

3. If we are satisfied with a council’s actions or proposed actions, we can complete 
our investigation and issue a decision statement. (Local Government Act 1974, section 
30(1B) and 34H(i), as amended)

How I considered this complaint
4. I have:

• Considered the complaint and the information provided by Mrs X;
• Made enquiries of the Council and considered the information provided;
• Invited Mrs X and the Council to comment on the draft decision. 

What I found
5. Mr and Mrs X rented their property to tenants. Mr and Mrs X were liable for the 

Council Tax during periods in 2016 and 2018 when the period the property did not 
have tenants. The Council sent Council Tax bills to the property address. This 
was an error. The Council has said it should have reopened a closed account for 
Mr and Mrs X and sent the bill to the forwarding address held on that account.

Page 19



    

Final decision 2

6. Mr and Mrs X were unaware of the bills so did not pay. The Council sent a 
reminder and summons to the property address.  It then obtained a liability order 
and passed the account to enforcement agents to collect. It had added the 
summons and liability order costs to the bill at this point. The enforcement agent 
sent a number of letters to Mr and Mrs X requesting payment and warning it could 
remove goods.  

7. Mrs X sent an email to the Council notifying it she had only just received notice of 
the bill and asking it to remove the additional costs. Mrs X paid the outstanding 
Council Tax but did not pay the costs. She sent a number of emails asking the 
Council to remove the costs as she had only just become aware of the bill. 

8. The Council initially required Mrs X to provide Mr X’s authorisation for her to deal 
with the account as it was in his name. The Council then advised Mrs X it had 
correctly added the costs to her account. The Council then issued a summons for 
the costs. 

9. Mrs X contacted her MP and the Ombudsman to complain the Council had 
wrongly added costs to her account.  

10. The Council acknowledged it wrongly sent the Council Tax bills to the property 
address instead of Mrs X’s forwarding address. The Council also acknowledged it 
did not properly deal with her complaint. The Council apologised to Mrs X, 
removed the costs from her account and recalled the account from the 
enforcement agents.

11. The Council has also reminded officers to reopen landlord accounts when a 
tenant vacates and not a new account to prevent a recurrence of the problems 
experienced by Mr and Mrs X. 

My assessment 
12. The Council has acknowledged it is at fault as it did not send the Council Tax bills 

to Mr and Mrs X’s forwarding address so the bills were not properly served. The 
Council has apologised to Mr and Mrs X and removed the court and enforcement 
agent’s costs.  So the issue for me is whether this is a sufficient and proportionate 
remedy for Mr and Mrs X’s injustice. 

13. Mr and Mrs X were caused some distress by receiving the enforcement agent’s 
notices over a number of weeks and by receiving another unnecessary summons. 
Mr and Mrs X were also put to avoidable time and trouble in having to contact the 
Council on a number of occasions to try to resolve the matter. The Council should 
make a payment to Mr and Mrs X to acknowledge this injustice in addition to the 
apology already made. 

Agreed action 
14. That the Council makes a payment of £200 to Mr and Mrs X to acknowledge the 

distress and avoidable time and trouble caused to them by the Council not 
sending Council Tax bills to their forwarding address and the unnecessary court 
costs and contact from the enforcement agents. This is in line with our guidance 
for remedying complaints. The Council should make this payment within one 
month of my final decision.

Final decision
15. The Council is at fault as it did not send Council Tax bills to Mr and Mrs X’s 

forwarding address. As a result Mr and Mrs X were wrongly charged court costs 

Page 20



    

Final decision 3

and contacted by enforcement agents. The Council has agreed to remedy Mr and 
Mrs X’s distress and avoidable time and trouble as recommended so I have 
completed my investigation.
Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 22



1

6 February 2020

Complaint reference: 
19 016 225

Complaint against:
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

The Ombudsman’s final decision
Summary: Mr X complains that the Council has not awarded him 
priority on the housing register that accurately reflects the impact of 
his housing on his health. The Ombudsman will not investigate this 
complaint because it is unlikely that further investigation would result 
in a different outcome. 

The complaint
1. Mr X complains that the Council has not awarded him priority on the housing 

register that accurately reflects the impact of his housing on his health. Mr X says 
that living in his current accommodation is detrimental to his mental and physical 
health. 

The Ombudsman’s role and powers
2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this 

statement, I have used the word ‘fault’ to refer to these. We must also consider 
whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the 
complaint. I refer to this as ‘injustice’. We provide a free service, but must use 
public money carefully. We may decide not to start or continue with an 
investigation if we believe it is unlikely further investigation will lead to a different 
outcome. (Local Government Act 1974, section 24A(6), as amended) 

How I considered this complaint
3. I considered the information in the complaint and the documents the Council 

provided.
4. I have written to Mr X with my draft decision and considered his comments.

What I found
5. Mr X applied to join the Council’s housing register in May 2019. In his application, 

he said that the reason he needed to move was the impact of his current 
accommodation on his health. 

6. The Council asked Mr X to complete a medical information form, which he did in 
June 2019. Mr X also provided information about his physical and mental health 
conditions.

7. The Council awards priority on the housing register in Bands, where Band A is the 
highest priority, and allocates available properties to those with the highest priority 

Page 23



    

Final decision 2

band who have been waiting the longest. The Council assesses each application 
in line with its Housing Allocations policy to decide what priority band to award. 

8. The Council asked an Independent Medical Advisor (IMA) to assess Mr X’s 
application and awarded priority band D considering the IMA’s recommendation.

9. In September 2019, Mr X asked the Council to look again at the decision. He 
pointed out that he needs a ground floor property and priority for ground floor 
properties is reserved for those in Bands A-C.

10. The Council discussed the application with the IMA and agreed to increase Mr X’s 
priority to Band C to reflect the degenerative nature of one of his health conditions 
and his need for a ground floor property. The Council backdated Mr X’s new 
banding to the date it originally awarded Band D. 

11. The Council agreed with Mr X that it had not awarded him a priority banding that 
accurately reflected his housing needs and the impact of his housing on his health 
conditions. The Council remedied this by awarding Mr X a higher priority band 
and backdating it to the date of the original assessment. 

12. There is insufficient evidence that Mr X lost out on a realistic prospect of being 
offered a property in the three months it took the Council to remedy its error. It is 
unlikely that further investigation by the Ombudsman would result in a different 
outcome.   

Final decision
13. The Ombudsman will not investigate this complaint because it is unlikely that 

further investigation would result in a different outcome. 
Investigator’s decision on behalf of the Ombudsman 

Page 24



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Nick Long  
Executive Member: Fiona Thomson 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE  16 SEPTEMBER 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

SURVEILLANCE UPDATE 2020  

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report provides members with an update on the council’s use of surveillance 
powers. It is a requirement of the surveillance code of practice that an update is 
periodically made to members on surveillance activity, so Members are therefore 
asked to consider and note the content of this report.  

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 For committee to note the use of surveillance powers, and the work undertaken 
in making sure the council can comply with its surveillance responsibilities.  

3 Explanation 

3.1 The council has powers to investigate a range of criminal offences and like all 
local authorities is able to utilise powers to undertake surveillance to assist with 
those investigations in certain prescribed circumstances.  

3.2 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (as amended) sets out the strict 
framework under which the council may use surveillance powers.  

3.3 The use of these powers is governed by the requirements of law and the 
council’s own policy. Powers cannot be used without the agreement of a 
designated “Authorising Officer” and the judicial approval of a magistrate. In all 
cases the powers can only be used to investigate a specified offence and must 
be shown to be necessary and proportionate to the circumstances.    

3.4 The Council Constitution designates the Senior Responsible Officer and 
Authorising Officers who are responsible for ensuring arrangements are in place 
to ensure any surveillance undertaken is properly authorised and the council has 
a policy in place governing surveillance which can be viewed on the council 
website at  https://www.welhat.gov.uk/RIPA 

3.5 The council is subject to audit form the Investigatory Powers Commissioner 
(IPCO) (previously the Office of Surveillance Commissioners) and was last 
audited in February 2019. In advance of this audit the council was asked to 
submit certain information and, on that basis, IPCO conducted a remote audit. It 
is therefore anticipated that a physical on-site audit will be conducted in 2021.  

3.6 The audit raised one technical recommendation which has been actioned by 
bringing it to the attention of the Authorising Officers and was extremely positive 
regarding the council’s controls and approach to surveillance.  

3.7 Whilst the council remains an infrequent user of surveillance powers, a key 
important task is that a staff training programme is in place. This needs to cover 
Authorising Officers and officers who may wish to seek authority for surveillance 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6

https://www.welhat.gov.uk/RIPA


- 2 - 

activities. RIPA also applies to the “online space” and the council’s Authorising 
Officers have prepared and delivered a number of training sessions focussing on 
the application of RIPA to the online space.  

3.8 The senior responsible officer and one of the Authorising Officers have attended 
externally delivered training on “RIPA, Social media monitoring and CHIS”; the 
other two Authorising Officers were also scheduled to attend this training, but 
their course was unfortunately cancelled.  

3.9 Authorising Officers continue to provide training to specific staff in the various 
teams who may potentially seek to use surveillance powers, and since the audit, 
over 30 such staff have been trained.   

3.10 More significantly, an ambitious programme of RIPA awareness training has 
commenced, with the aim of ensuring all staff who have access to a council 
computer/internet enabled device and the online space are RIPA aware. 
Designed in-house and delivered by the council’s Authorising Officers this “power 
in a hour session” has been well received and is well underway, however its full 
roll out has been curtailed by the covid19 pandemic. To date 4 sessions have 
been held and 276 staff have been trained.  

3.11 Additionally, the council’s induction course, which all new starters attend, has 
been updated to include information about RIPA and the online space so that 
when colleagues commence employment with the council they are made RIPA 
aware.  

3.12 Since the audit, no authorisations for surveillance have been sought and 
consequently none have been put forward for judicial approval.  

3.13 Authorising Officers have provided surveillance advice to the planning, housing 
and hackney carriage teams 

3.14 At the time of writing, one “complaint” has been received regarding surveillance 
activity and this is being investigated in accordance with the relevant procedures. 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA), as amended by the 
Protection of Freedoms Act and the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 sets out the 
regulatory regime by which the council may use certain surveillance powers to 
investigate certain specified offences. Failure to comply with the legislation could 
result in legal challenge, investigation by the Investigatory Powers Tribunal or 
challenge on the admissibility of evidence in Court.  

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 None, budgets are in place for the provision of training for relevant officers 
through the allocated training budgets.  

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to this proposal relate to legal challenge and reputation for 
example a court case collapsing owing to evidence collected through surveillance 
being ruled inadmissible. The council has a policy in place and a staff training 
programme. Heads of Service are asked to ensure relevant staff attend the 
training programme. RIPA is included as part of the management assurance 
statements which help comprise the annual governance statement and the 

Page 26



- 3 - 

council is periodically audited by the IPCO. An assessment of risk is therefore 
considered as impact: high, probability: low  

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 The RIPA regime is used by the council to assist with the investigation of certain 
criminal offences. In addition the council will work as required with the police and 
other partners to facilitate the prevention, detection and investigation of crime.   

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 None 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 None  

10 Health and wellbeing implications  

None directly arising from the report  

11 Communications and engagement  

The nature of any covert surveillance undertaken by the council is by definition 
covert and not in the public domain. However for public confidence and 
transparency it is important that the council shares its adopted RIPA policy which 
is available at https://www.welhat.gov.uk/RIPA  Additionally the council is 
required to periodically provided updates on surveillance activity to elected 
members, and this is done through regular reports to the Standards Committee.   

12 Link to Corporate Priorities 

12.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities “our 
community”, “our environment”, “our housing” and “our council” and the statutory 
provisions under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act (RIPA), as amended 

13 Equality and Diversity 

13.1 An Equality Impact screening assessment has not been carried out in connection 
with the proposals that are set out in this report as RIPA is an enforcement tool 
and an EQIA was carried out in connection the corporate enforcement policy. 

Nick Long  
Corporate Director, (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
September 2020   
 
 
 
  

Page 27

https://www.welhat.gov.uk/RIPA


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 LOCAL GOVERNMENT & SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN - ANNUAL REVIEW LETTER
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	17018755 FINAL DECISION
	18018756 final decision
	19016225 Final Decision
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	6 SURVEILLANCE UPDATE 2020

